FILE D'S

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

IUL 18 1994 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

SAMUEL ZELL, Trustee under Trust Agreement dated April 3, 1972, and known as Trust Number 853, not individually, but solely as Trustee; and FIRST PROPERTY MANAGEMENT CORP., an Illinois corporation,

Petitioners,

v.

CASE NO.: 83,806

GAYLYNN SUE MEEK and BARRY M. MEEK,

Respondents.

### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

OSBORNE, McNATT, SHAW, O'HARA,
BROWN & OBRINGER
Professional Association
Jack W. Shaw, Jr., Esquire
Florida Bar No. 124802
Michael J. Obringer, Esquire
Florida Bar No. 175217
Suite 1400, 225 Water Street
Jacksonville, Florida 32202-5147
(904) 354-0624

Attorneys for Petitioners

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the parties will generally be referred to by name. Gaylynn Sue Meek, plaintiff in the trial court, appellant in the District Court of Appeal, and respondent here, will be referred to as "Meek." Any reference to her co-plaintiff, Barry Meek, whose claim is a derivative consortium claim, will be to "Mr. Meek." Petitioners in this Court, who were defendants in the trial court and appellees in the District Court of Appeal, will be collectively referred to as "First Property." References to the Record on Appeal will be by the symbol "R: ."

All emphasis herein is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case comes to this Court on certification by the District Court of Appeal, First District, that its opinion passes upon a question of great public importance. As phrased by the District Court, that question is:

IS THE INTERVAL OF TIME BETWEEN A PSYCHIC TRAUMA AND THE MANIFESTATION OF PHYSICAL TRAUMA MERELY ONE ISSUE FOR THE TRIER OF FACT'S CONSIDERATION IN DECIDING WHETHER THE CAUSE OF ACTION RECOGNIZED IN CHAMPION V. GRAY HAS BEEN ESTABLISHED; OR IS THERE SOME ARBITRARY PERIOD AFTER WHICH THE MANIFESTATION OF PHYSICAL IMPAIRMENT WILL BE CONCLUSIVELY PRESUMED NOT TO HAVE BEEN CAUSED BY THE PSYCHIC TRAUMA?

That question arose as follows.

Meek filed a Complaint (R:1) and an Amended Complaint (R:18) alleging that First Property owned and managed an apartment complex and that First Property had negligently failed to take reasonable steps to protect tenants and invitees from reasonably foreseeable

crime; as a result, the complaints alleged, Meek's father was killed by a bomb left on his front doorstep by some unknown person, and Meek sustained psychic trauma from seeing her father as he lay mortally wounded.

First Property moved for summary judgment (R:30), asserting that Meek suffered no physical impact or injuries from the inhalation of smoke or from the shards of a light bulb which fell on (but did not cut or injure) her at the time of the explosion (R:31, ¶2), that she did not suffer significant discernible physical injury so as to permit recovery for any psychic trauma (R:32, ¶5), and that the physical symptoms she did eventually suffer did not occur within a "short time" of the infliction of her psychic injury. (R:32, ¶6).

Based on the filed discovery, the trial court granted summary judgment (R:149, 151), finding first that there had been no "physical impact" upon Meek within the meaning of the "impact rule" and "specifically that pieces of glass from a shattered light fixture falling upon a person without cutting that person or injuring that person does not constitute any 'physical impact.'" (R:149). The trial court further found that "unspecified stomach pains, insomnia, difficulty in swallowing and breathing and unspecified pains in the hip and elbow joints do not constitute 'demonstrable physical injury' or 'discernible physical impairments' under Florida law" (R:149). Finally, the trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A separate wrongful death action against First Property remains pending in the Circuit Court.

found that if these items did constitute "'demonstrable physical injuries' or 'discernible physical impairments,' then such injuries or impairments did not accompany or occur within a short time of the psychic injury" and that an "eight- or nine-month lapse between the occurrence and the injuries is too long a period of time to meet the temporal proximity requirement of Florida law." (R:149-150).

On appeal, the District Court reversed. Although agreeing with the trial court that Meek had not suffered an "impact" within the meaning of the traditional impact rule (slip opinion at 5), the District Court held that, for purposes of summary judgment, Meek's claim met the requirements of the cause of action recognized by this Court in Champion v. Gray, 478 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1985). (slip opinion at 5) that the time interval between the psychic injury and the resulting significant physical impairment was the principal issue in this case, and that Champion had emphasized the requirement that the physical impairment must accompany or occur within a short time of the psychic injury, the District Court characterized that temporal proximity requirement as a "concern" designed to curb the potential for fraudulent claims and place boundaries on psychic claims, but felt that the facts of the present case gave sufficient indicia of genuineness to preclude summary judgment notwithstanding the lengthy time The District Court vacated the summary judgment, but certified that its opinion passed on a question of great public importance, as set forth above.

Following the denial of a timely motion for rehearing, First Property timely filed its Notice invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. By order dated June 20, 1994, this Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and established a briefing schedule.

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Zell was the owner of the Cedar Cove apartment complex in Jacksonville, Florida; First Property managed and operated Cedar Cove. (R:27).

Meek resides with Mr. Meek and their two daughters in Illinois. (R:128-129, 143). Meek's parents, Dorothy and Sherwin Finlay, were tenants of Cedar Cove. (R:131). In the spring of 1990, Meek was visiting them for the weekend. (R:71). After an overnight boating excursion, Meek and her parents returned to Cedar Cove on March 19, 1990 and were unpacking their vehicle and carrying items into the apartment. (R:74-76).

As they entered the apartment, they noticed a small box which had been left on the doorstep of the Finlay's apartment. (R:76-77). Stepping over the box and into the apartment, Meek and her mother went into the kitchen (across the dining room from the front door) and unpacked the food from the trip. (R:77-78, 79). Suddenly, there was an explosion. (R:78). The force of the explosion blew objects off the walls and ceilings and caused light fixtures in the kitchen to shatter, scattering glass, which fell on Meek's head but did not cut or otherwise injure her. (R:78). Meek screamed, then proceeded through billows of black smoke to the

front door, where her father lay mortally wounded. (R:78-80). The person who left the bomb on the Finlay's doorstep has never been apprehended.

First Property had allegedly received threats prior to the bombing, but did not warn their tenants or invitees, or take other steps to provide for the safety and security of their tenants.<sup>2</sup> (R:92, 131).

Prior to the bombing, Meek did not suffer from any physical infirmity or disability. (R:130). Shortly after the accident, Meek began having insomnia and depression (for both of which she took prescribed medication) (R:59, 97-98, 144), trouble with her short-term memory (R:102, 139), a strong reaction to loud noises (R:115), bad dreams (R:116), and an inability to stop reliving the events. (R:115-116). Since the accident, she has seen three psychologists: Mary Horgan once a week for three or four weeks beginning in April, 1990 (R:109-110), Ron Maier off and on over a period of six to eight months (R:110-111), and Lori Bergner for six to eight weeks beginning in December, 1991 or January, 1992. (R:112-113).

Meek was often fatigued and underwent personality changes which led to family group counseling. (R:113, 139). Her sexual relationship with her husband suffered. (R:117-118). Meek had a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Since this is an appeal from a summary judgment, all facts are stated herein in the light most favorable to Meek. Serious factual issues exist as to whether First Property ever <u>did</u> receive any such warnings prior to the explosion, for instance. For present purposes, we resolve all such issues in Meek's favor.

fear of being alone, suffered anxiety attacks and was bothered by recurring thoughts of the bombing which killed her father. (R:115, 193). For months after the bombing, Meek attempted to cope with her nightmares by closing herself in the closet. (R:115).

It was not until Christmas of 1990, some nine months after her father's death, that Meek claims to have sustained any significant physical impairment. (R:95, 97). At that time, she developed severe pains in the upper area of her stomach for which she was prescribed Pepcid, an ulcer medication. (R:95, 104, 107). In January of 1991, ten months after her father's death, the pain below her rib cage became worse. (R:100). On the first anniversary of her father's death, Meek became very ill, with the pain spreading into her chest area. (R:99, 100). Her treating physician, Dr. Weaver, suspected an ulcer and prescribed Pepcid, which has been very helpful in controlling the pain. (R:103, 104).

Around Thanksgiving of 1991, some twenty months after her father's death, Meek developed a blockage in her esophagus, was unable to swallow, and occasionally had difficulty breathing. (R:97-98, 106-106a). Dr. Weaver sent Meek in for an esophagram, which came back negative. (R:106).

At the beginning of May, 1992, more than two years after her father's death, Meek developed problems with her hip joints (R:107-108) and, in the third week of that month, her elbow joints (R:108). She treats these problems solely with Ibuprofen. (R:108).

In Dr. Weaver's opinion, the psychological trauma Meek suffered as a result of her father's death contributed to her physical symptoms and her increased need for medical care. (R:59). Meek's insomnia and anxiety with depressed mood and situational depression was, in Dr. Weaver's opinion, secondary to her father's death. (R:59).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since the District Court certified that its decision passed on a question of great public importance, this Court has discretionary review jurisdiction. The Court should exercise that discretion in favor of granting review because the District Court's opinion modifies the elements of the <u>Champion</u> cause of action, adds uncertainty to an area that had previously been clear, and frustrates this Court's efforts to place boundaries on psychic injury claims. Moreover, granting review will give the Court an opportunity to resolve a conflict of decisions among the District Courts of Appeal.

Meek did not satisfy the elements of the cause of action recognized in <u>Champion v. Gray</u>, 478 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1985). That cause of action requires both (1) a significant discernible and demonstrable physical impairment resulting from the psychic injury, and (2) that the physical impairment accompany or occur within a short time of the traumatic event. Contrary to the District Court's opinion, Meek fails as a matter of law to meet either requirement.

None of Meek's discernible physical impairments first occurred until a full nine months after her father's death (when she first experienced stomach pain), and some did not occur until more than two full years after the traumatic event (a problem with her hip and elbow joints). The temporal proximity requirement of Champion v. Gray deals with the lapse of time between the traumatic event and the physical impairment. Meek's claim before the District Court that it is sufficient that plaintiff is still experiencing emotional distress when the physical impairment develops is contrary to the teaching of Champion and must be rejected.

The District Court erred in concluding that Champion's temporal proximity requirement was merely a "concern," and was but a single factor to be weighed in deciding whether a cause of action negligent emotional distress infliction of had been established. This Court should reaffirm Champion by responding to the certified question that a sufficiently short time interval between the infliction of the psychic injury and the onset of a significant physical injury is an absolute prerequisite to the cause of action recognized in Champion -- and that the time interval in the present case is, as a matter of law, too long to meet Champion's requirement.

Even apart from the lapse of time, Meek has not sustained any significant discernible and demonstrable physical impairment so as to come within the <u>Champion</u> exception to the impact rule. Many of the conditions which Meek relies on as "physical injuries" (depression, insomnia, bad dreams, reaction to loud noises, etc.)

are simply not physical in nature, but are mental or emotional. Meek's other claimed physical impairments consist of contractions of the esophagus (which were not medically demonstrable, lasted about six weeks, and required no prescription medication), pain in her hip and elbow joints (for which she takes only an over-the-counter medication), stomach pain (which is fully treated with Pepcid prescribed by Dr. Weaver), and irritable bowel symptoms. These minor and transient conditions are a far cry from the significant impairment (such as death, paralysis, or muscular impairment) required under Champion v. Gray.

The only "impact" Meek claims to have sustained is that shards of glass fell on (but did not cut or otherwise injure) her and the fact that the apartment filled with black smoke from the explosion. Her claimed emotional distress was not the result of the falling glass shards or the smoke; rather, it resulted from her father's death. As the District Court correctly recognized, the requirements of Florida's impact rule are not met in these circumstances.

Contrary to Meek's contention, not every physical contact is sufficient to meet the requirements of the impact rule. Instead, the physical contact itself must cause injury. Since no injury-producing impact exists in this case, the trial court and the District Court of Appeal both correctly held that Meek failed to satisfy the requirements of Florida's impact rule.

The trial court's ruling was correct in all regards, and should have been affirmed. The District Court erred in vacating

the summary judgment, and its decision should be reversed and the cause remanded with directions to reinstate that summary judgment.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION AND REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT.

The District Court of Appeal has certified that its decision passes upon a question of great public importance. Accordingly, this Court has discretionary review jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. This Court should exercise its discretion in favor of granting review in this case.

In <u>Champion v. Gray</u>, 478 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1985), this Court recognized a cause of action for negligent infliction of emotional distress caused by the injury or death of a close family member. In delimiting the elements of that cause of action, the Court stated (478 So.2d at 19, footnote omitted):

We <u>emphasize the requirement</u> that a causally connected clearly discernible physical impairment <u>must accompany</u> or occur within a short time of the psychic injury.

In the present case, the District Court of Appeal held that a lapse of nine months between the psychic injury and the onset of the first significant physical impairment was not a sufficient length of time to permit a court to conclude, as a matter of law, that the impairment did not "accompany or occur within a short time of the psychic injury." Instead, the District Court held, the lapse of that length of time was simply one factor for the trier of fact

to consider in determining whether a cause of action under <u>Champion</u> had been established.

In so holding, the District Court has impermissibly departed from the controlling precedents of this Court by modifying the elements of the cause of action this Court recognized in Champion. Additionally, the District Court's opinion adds uncertainty and imprecision to a point that had previously been clear — that temporal proximity is a required element of a Champion cause of action, not simply one factor in a balancing test. The District Court's decision also tends to frustrate this Court's effort in Champion "to place some boundaries on the indefinable and unmeasurable psychic claims." (478 So.2d at 20).

Moreover, granting review in this case will permit the Court to clarify the law in an area in which the District Courts are in conflict: whether an injury-producing impact to plaintiff will permit recovery for negligent infliction of emotional distress arising out of injury to another where the requirements of Champion v. Gray have not been met. As discussed in Point III, infra, the First and Fourth District Courts of Appeal have answered that question in the negative, while the Third District Court of Appeal has answered affirmatively. The law on this point needs to be clarified so as to be consistent throughout the state.

The District Court was correct in one regard -- its decision does pass on a question of great public importance. This Court should exercise its discretion and review that decision.

II. MEEK FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE A SIGNIFICANT DISCERNIBLE PHYSICAL INJURY OCCURRING WITHIN A SHORT TIME OF THE PSYCHIC INJURY, AND HENCE CANNOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF CHAMPION V. GRAY.

Under Florida law, a plaintiff traditionally could not recover damages for the negligent infliction of emotional distress unless plaintiff had suffered an injury-producing impact. This Court in Champion v. Gray, 478 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1985), recognized a cause of action for negligent infliction of emotional distress unaccompanied by personal injury to plaintiff in certain limited circumstances. To come within the Champion "exception" to the impact rule plaintiff must demonstrate: (1) a significant discernible physical injury; (2) that the physical injury accompanied or occurred within

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Conceptually, the traditional impact rule and the <u>Champion v.</u> <u>Gray</u> line of cases address two different situations. As this Court pointed out in <u>Champion</u> (478 So.2d at 19):

There are at least two distinct emotional circumstances: one caused by fear for one's own safety and one caused by anxiety or stress for the injury or death of another. The former is basically that which existed in <u>Gilliam v. Stewart</u>, [291 So.2d 593 (Fla. 1974)] and is more readily recognized as a basis for a cause of action in other jurisdictions. The second is what exists here . . .

The traditional impact rule cases involve the first situation (fear for one's own safety); applicability of that line of cases is discussed in Point III, <u>infra</u>. <u>Champion v. Gray</u> and its progeny deal with the second situation (emotional distress due to the injury or death of another), which is the factual pattern of the instant cause.

Accordingly, since the "impact" in the present case is not claimed to itself have put Meek in fear for her own safety, it seems clear that the traditional impact rule is (as the District Court correctly held) inapplicable. Nonetheless, since Meek raised the issue below, since the courts have occasionally failed to appreciate the import of the distinction pointed out in <a href="Champion">Champion</a>, and since the courts have often referred to the "<a href="Champion">Champion</a> exception," we will use that same terminology.

a short time of the psychic trauma; (3) that the psychically injured party had an especially close emotional attachment to the directly injured person; and (4) that the psychically injured party was directly involved in the event causing the injury to the directly injured person. Champion v. Gray, supra; Brown v. Cadillac Motor Car Division, 468 So.2d 903 (Fla. 1985). It is the first two of these four elements which are the focus of this appeal.

In <u>Champion</u>, this Court made it clear that temporal proximity between the psychic trauma and the resulting physical impairment was an essential element of the cause of action, stating (478 So.2d at 19, footnote omitted):

We <u>emphasize the requirement</u> that a causally connected clearly discernible physical impairment must accompany or occur within a short time of the psychic injury.

The District Court in the present case noted (slip opinion at 6) that this requirement was set forth in dictum and, in quoting from this sentence, omitted this Court's reference to temporal proximity being a "requirement."

Instead, the District Court viewed the <u>Champion</u> court's statement about the need for a short time interval solely as a "concern" related to a need to curb the potential for fraudulent claims and to place boundaries on indefinable and unmeasurable psychic claims. After casting the matter in that light, the District Court found sufficient indicia of the genuineness of Meek's emotional distress to outweigh the extremely long lapse of

time (nine months) between the psychic trauma and any resulting significant physical impairment.

The District Court's approach is demonstrated by the very wording of the certified question, which inquires whether "the interval of time between a psychic trauma and the manifestation of physical trauma [is] merely one issue for the trier of fact's consideration" or whether there is some point after which the lapse of time is, in and of itself, sufficient to preclude a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress under Champion as a matter of law.

We suggest that the certified question should be reframed in light of the facts of this case, as follows:

IS THE LAPSE OF NINE MONTHS BETWEEN THE PSYCHIC TRAUMA AND THE FIRST MANIFESTATION OF A SIGNIFICANT, DISCERNIBLE PHYSICAL INJURY SUFFICIENT TO CONCLUDE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE TEMPORAL PROXIMITY REQUIREMENT OF CHAMPION V. GRAY HAS NOT BEEN MET?

The answer to that question, we submit, is plainly in the affirmative.

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