## FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 26 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SAMUEL ZELL, Trustee under Trust Agreement dated April 3, 1972, and known as Trust Number 853, not individually, but solely as Trustee; and FIRST PROPERTY MANAGEMENT CORP., an Illinois corporation,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chilef Deputy Clerk

Petitioners,

v.

CASE NO.: 83,806

GAYLYNN SUE MEEK and BARRY M. MEEK.

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIRST DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS GAYLYNN SUE MEEK AND BARRY M. MEEK

ROGERS, TOWERS, BAILEY, JONES & GAY

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION OF THIS CASE SO AS TO CLARIFY AND REFINE THE LAW OF NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS AND FURTHER THE UNIFORM ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE

The evolution of the law of negligent infliction of emotional distress reveals the current policies of assuring that only genuine emotional distress claims which are causally connected to a negligent act are actionable in Florida, and placing some boundaries on "indefinable" and "unmeasurable" psychic claims. The impact rule and its modifications are

"tools" to these ends. These tools, however, are subservient to the policies which they safeguard. This Court is committed to analyzing emotional distress claims on a case-by-case basis, to assure that the policies underlying impact rule analysis are addressed under the facts of a specific case. There is confusion among the appellate courts, however, as to what constitutes a legally sufficient impact, and whether, in an actionable claim, only parasitic emotional distress damages can be recovered. This Court should accept jurisdiction of Meek's case because it presents the opportunity to clarify and refine the law in this area.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD ANSWER THE CERTIFIED QUESTION BY HOLDING THAT THERE IS NO ARBITRARY TIME PERIOD UNDER CHAMPION V.

GRAY AFTER WHICH MANIFESTATIONS OF PHYSICAL IMPAIRMENT WILL CONCLUSIVELY BE PRESUMED TO HAVE NOT BEEN CAUSED BY THE PSYCHIC TRAUMA, AND THAT ANY TIME PERIOD IS MERELY ONE ISSUE FOR THE TRIER-OF-FACT'S CONSIDERATION

Temporal proximity between psychic trauma and the resulting physical injury is not an independent element of the cause of action established in <u>Champion vs. Gray</u>, 478 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1985). The three elements established in <u>Champion</u> are: 1) a significant, discernible physical injury (resulting from the emotional distress); 2) the psychically injured party should be directly involved in the event causing the original injury (to the other person); and 3) the secondarily injured party must have an especially close emotional attachment to the directly injured person. <u>Id</u>. at 20. Temporal proximity, while not an independent element of the cause of action, is a factor to be considered by the trier-of-fact in determining whether the first element

(physical injury resulting from the psychic trauma), has been met. As the First District Court correctly found, Meek's claim is obviously genuine and supported by undisputed, competent medical testimony, and fulfills the elements of <u>Champion</u> and the underlying policies the elements were formulated to safeguard. If her claim is nevertheless evaluated in the context of an arbitrary time interval, then that interval should be established by this Court as two years.

## III. MEEK SATISFIES THE REQUIREMENT OF <u>CHAMPION</u> THAT SHE SUFFER CAUSALLY CONNECTED, CLEARLY DISCERNIBLE PHYSICAL INJURIES

This Court has also not created a minimum severity of injury requirement for an actionable emotional distress claim. Both Champion and Brown require only a "significant, discernible physical injury" resulting from the emotional distress or psychic trauma. Meek's conditions, which are supported by her deposition testimony and the affidavit testimony of her treating physician, are objectively discernible, and significant. The First District Court properly found in its de novo review of the record that Meek's physical condition, which progressively deteriorated from the time shortly after the bombing, satisfies the Champion requirement of significant, discernible physical injuries resulting from her emotional distress.

# IV. WHETHER OR NOT MEEK SATISFIES THE REQUIREMENTS OF <u>CHAMPION</u>, SHE EXPERIENCED A LEGALLY SUFFICIENT PHYSICAL IMPACT TO RECOVER FOR NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS

Meek was present during the bombing, and was struck by shattered glass and billowing black smoke at the scene. These constitute legally sufficient impacts under Florida law so as to

render her claim for emotional distress actionable, irrespective of the requirements of Champion. Accordingly, although Meek has suffered resulting significant and discernible physical injuries from her emotional distress, such injuries are not necessary to make her claim actionable. Under Florida law, the requirement of a physical impact, and alternatively the requirement of a resulting physical injury, are tools to help assure that claims for emotional distress are genuine and causally connected to the negligent act. Since Meek has experienced a legally sufficient physical impact, she is entitled to recover damages for all of her resulting emotional distress from the incident in which she suffered the psychic trauma. She is not limited, as First Property contends, to recovering only parasitic emotional distress.

### V. MEEK PROPOSES A TEST FOR EVALUATING ALL NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS CLAIMS

This Court should adopt a test expressly applicable to negligent infliction of emotional distress claims whether they involve a by-stander, or involve fear for one's own safety. With one modification to the <u>Champion</u> elements, a workable test would require: 1) a significant, objectively discernible physical injury resulting from the emotional distress; 2) involvement by the claimant in the event caused by the negligence of another; and 3) **EITHER** a close emotional relationship to the injured person (by-stander circumstance) **OR** presence within a zone of danger (fear for one's own safety circumstance).

This test would be a "boundary" that would adequately safeguard the policies, as determined on a case-by-case basis, of permitting only genuine and causally connected claims for emotional distress, while avoiding arbitrary exclusion of genuine and provable claims. Accordingly, it would better serve the policies underlying Florida's tort system.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION OF THIS CASE SO AS TO CLARIFY AND REFINE THE LAW OF NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS AND FURTHER THE UNIFORM ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE.

As noted by First Property, the First District Court certified that its decision passes upon a question of great public importance, which triggers this Court's discretionary review jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § (3)(b)(4), Florida Constitution, and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v). While the decision of the First District Court fits within the framework of the law previously handed down by this Court in Champion v. Gray, 478 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1985), so that review by this Court is not essential to an orderly application of the law, the instant case nevertheless presents a unique opportunity for this Court to clarify and refine the law of negligent infliction of emotional distress in Florida, both within and without the context of the "modified impact rule" announced in Champion.

This Court has stated that "the central policy of all tort law is to place a person in a position nearly equivalent to what would have existed had the defendants' conduct not breached a

duty owed to plaintiffs, thereby causing injury." Kush v. Lloyd, 616 So. 2d 415, 424 (Fla. 1992). It is proper that this Court consider from time to time whether rules of law which it has adopted and developed, such as the impact rule, are furthering that policy. As corollaries to that general question are the specific questions of whether the rule needs to be "fine-tuned", restructured, or replaced altogether. If the administration of justice be the goal of our court system, it seems that this Court serves its highest purpose when it "takes inventory" of the law in the context of an ever-changing society to see if that goal is being efficiently pursued. Though Meek disagrees with many of First Property's contentions, she shares with First Property the desire to gain clarity and dispel confusion both as to the merits of her claim, and those of other potential plaintiffs within the To illustrate the need for clarity, it is essential to state. take an overview of the development of the law of negligent infliction of emotional distress in Florida. Some evolving principles are clear, others are not.

The seminal case in Florida for the proposition that emotional distress which is not accompanied by physical impact is non-compensable (the "impact rule") is <u>International Ocean Telegraph Co. v. Saunders</u>, 32 Fla. 434, 14 So. 148 (1893) in which the Court refused to allow recovery for emotional distress

As observed recently, "This Court has repeatedly recognized that our common law 'must keep pace with changes in our society'." United States of America v. Dempsey, 19 FLW S198, S199 (Fla. April 21, 1994).

in a breach of contract case. This Court subsequently applied this principle in a number of simple negligence cases. <u>See, e.g., Clark v. Choctawhatchee Electric Co-operative, Inc.</u>, 107 So. 2d 609 (Fla. 1958); <u>Crane v. Loftin</u>, 70 So. 2d 574 (Fla. 1954). The Court clarified and succinctly summarized the impact rule in <u>Clark v. Choctawhatchee Electric Co-operative, Inc.</u>, <u>supra</u>, when it stated:

[W]hen there is no direct physical impact or trauma, recovery may not be had for damages resulting from fright and anguish....

107 So. 2d at 611.

The first major reaffirmation of the impact rule by this Court in the face of a serious challenge to its continued legitimacy occurred in Gilliam v. Stewart, 291 So. 2d 593 (Fla. 1974). In that case, which involved automobiles colliding and striking the plaintiff's house, the lower appellate court rejected the requirement of impact since the plaintiff, Mrs. Stewart, suffered a heart attack as a result of the emotional distress caused by the defendant's negligence. Stewart v. Gilliam, 271 So. 2d 466 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972). In so holding, the Gilliam lower court relied upon the weight of authority among commentators and courts in other jurisdictions assailing the three arguments or policies underpinning the impact rule:

It is our view that the impact requirement is "at variance with modern-day needs and with concepts of justice and fair dealing" and should be rejected. As the more recent cases point out, supra, there have been at least three basic arguments which have served as the underlying reasons for adhering to the impact

doctrine: the difficulty in proving causation between the claimed damages and the alleged fright or shock; the fear of fraudulent or exaggerated claims; and the possible flood of litigation.

Id. at 472. (emphasis supplied) The Fourth District Court of Appeal concluded that modern medicine and the collective efforts of the legal and medical professions would overcome any difficulty in proving causation and weeding out fraudulent or exaggerated claims. Id. at 472 and 475. It then observed that those states which have followed the "majority rule" allowing recovery for psychic injuries without impact have not experienced the feared flood of litigation. Id. at 475.<sup>2</sup>

A divided Florida Supreme Court reversed the district court's holding and expressly reaffirmed the requirement of physical impact in order to recover for the negligent infliction of emotional distress, even where that distress later manifests itself in a physical injury. Gilliam, 291 So. 2d at 595. In so holding, this Court reasoned that only it could overrule its own decisions concerning the impact rule. Id. at 594-95. This Court further reasoned that "especially under the facts in this case there is [not] any valid reason to recede from the long standing decisions of this Court in this area." Id. at 595. However,

The concern regarding a "flood of litigation" has apparently been resolved as this Court has not disputed the observation of Judge Mager, reiterated by Justice Adkins in his Gilliam dissent, 291 So. 2d at 602, that there has been no flood of litigation in jurisdictions where the impact rule has been abrogated. Other jurisdictions have accepted the reality that this is not a valid concern. See, e.g., James v. Lieb, 375 N.W. 2d 109, 117 (Neb. 1985); Schultz v. Barberton Glass Co., 447 W.E. 2d 109, 111 (Ohio 1983).

this Court was careful to emphasize that, should it at some point determine that the impact rule is "inequitable, impractical or no longer necessary," it would be free to abolish the rule. Id. Justice Adkins filed a lengthy dissent, agreeing with the district court that the three policies underlying the impact rule "no longer exist." Id. at 602.

This Court over the years has sanctioned a number of exceptions or modifications of the impact rule which, under the current status of the pleadings, are not applicable to Meek's claim. An exception or modification to the impact rule which is applicable to Meek's claim was established in Champion v. Gray, 478 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1985), in which the Court considered a suit by the personal representative of the estate of a woman who suffered a heart attack and died on the spot immediately after coming upon the scene of an accident where her daughter was struck and killed by a drunk driver. Id. at 18. The trial court dismissed the complaint since there was no physical impact to the mother, and the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed. Id.

In quashing the district court's holding, this Court noted that:

"the price of death or significant discernible physical injury, when caused by psychological trauma resulting from a negligent injury imposed upon a close family member within the sensory perception of the physically injured person, is too great a harm to require direct physical contact before a cause of action exists.

<u>Id</u>. at 18-19. Accordingly, this Court held that even in the absence of physical impact:

a claim exists for damages flowing from a significant discernible physical injury when such injury is caused by psychic trauma resulting from negligent injury imposed on another who, because of his relationship to the injured party and his involvement in the event causing that injury, is foreseeably injured.

at 20. Recognizing a need to curb the potential of Id. fraudulent claims and to place some boundaries the "indefinable and unmeasurable psychic claims", the Court was unwilling to expand the impact rule analysis to "purely subjective and speculative damages for psychic trauma alone." Id. at 20. The Court also fashioned three requirements for recovery under its "modified impact rule": (1) a significant discernible physical injury [resulting from the emotional distress]; (2) the psychically injured party should be directly involved in the event causing the original injury [to the other person]; and (3) the secondarily injured party must have an especially close emotional attachment to the directly injured person. Id.4

Though not expressly stated by the majority in <u>Champion</u>, its decision revealed a commitment by this Court to a case-by-case approach and analysis to determine viable emotional distress

The term "fraudulent claims" appears now to include two of the three concerns underlying the "traditional" impact rule, i.e. claims which are not genuine and claims for damages not causally connected to the negligent act.

In a companion case to <u>Champion</u> decided on the same day, <u>Brown v. Cadillac Motor Car Division</u>, 468 So. 2d 903 (Fla. 1985), the Court emphasized that although it created a "modification" of the impact rule in <u>Champion</u>, it did not abolish the requirement that "a discernible and demonstrable physical injury flow from the accident." <u>Id</u>. at 904. The claim of Mr. Brown, who ran over his own mother due to a faulty transmission on his vehicle (with no resulting impact to him), was disallowed because he failed to show a direct physical injury or resulting physical injury. <u>Id</u>.

claims. As expressed by Justice Alderman (joined by Justice Shaw) in his concurring opinion:

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